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April 25, 2019 
 
Via Certified and Registered Mail, Return Receipt Requested 
 
Cargill, Inc. and Cargill Deicing Technology 
191 Portland Point Rd. 
Lansing, NY 14882 
 
Cargill Deicing Technology 
24950 Country Club Blvd., Ste. 450 
North Olmsted, OH 44070 
 
Cargill, Inc. 
15407 McGinty Rd. W.  
Wayzata, MN 55391 
 
Cayuga Crushed Stone, Inc. 
878 Portland Point Rd. 
Lansing, NY 14882 
 

Re: Notice of Violation and Intent to File Suit under the Clean Water Act and the 
Resource Conservation and Recovery Act 

 
To Whom It May Concern: 
 
 I write on behalf of Our Children’s Earth Foundation (“OCE”) to notify you of OCE’s 
intent to file suit against Cargill, Inc. and Cargill Deicing Technology (collectively “Cargill”), 
and Cayuga Crushed Stone, Inc. (“Cayuga”), pursuant to Section 505(a) of the federal Clean 
Water Act (“CWA”)1 and Section 7002(a) of the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act 
(“RCRA”) 2 for violations of the CWA and RCRA respectively.  OCE intends to file suit, as an 
organization and on behalf of its adversely affected members, in the United States District Court 
for the Northern District of New York seeking appropriate equitable relief, civil penalties, and 
other relief no earlier than 90 days from the receipt of this letter.3 
 

                                                 
1 33 U.S.C. § 1365(a).  

2 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a).  We refer to statutory provisions by their section in the CWA and RCRA and 
provide the parallel citation to the United States Code only on first reference. 

3 See 40 C.F.R. § 254.2(c) (RCRA notice of intent to file suit is deemed to have been served on the date 
noted on the receipt card); 40 C.F.R. § 135.2(a)(3)(c) (CWA notice of intent to file suit is deemed to have 
been served on the postmark date).  



Notice of Violation and Intent to File Suit 
April 25, 2019 
Page 2 of 22 
 
 OCE intends to take legal action because Cargill, which operates a salt mine, and 
Cayuga, which operates a quarry and stone crushing operation, are unlawfully discharging 
polluted stormwater, process water, and other pollutants into waters of the United States, from 
two adjacent sites located near Cayuga Lake and its tributaries, in the Town of Lansing, 
Tompkins County, New York.  These sites are engaged in ongoing and continuous discharges 
that are not authorized by or in compliance with an individual National Pollutant Discharge 
Elimination System (“NPDES”) permit, an individual New York State Pollutant Discharge 
Elimination System (“SPDES”) permit, or the General Permit for the Discharge of Stormwater 
Associated with Industrial Activity (“General Permit” or the “MSGP”)4 issued by the New York 
State Department of Environmental Conservation (“DEC”), in violation of CWA sections 301(a) 
and 402, and 40 C.F.R. §§ 122.26(c)(1) and (e)(1).   
 
 In addition, Cargill and Cayuga’s unlawful discharges harm the biological integrity of the 
waterways and the water quality of the surrounding communities’ primary drinking water source, 
Cayuga Lake.  Cargill and Cayuga’s actions violate RCRA section 7002(a) because they may 
present an imminent and substantial endangerment to health or the environment.  
 

I. 
 

BACKGROUND5 
 

Cargill Salt Mine and the Cargill SPDES Permit 
 

 Cargill operates a hard rock salt mine at 191 Portland Point Rd., Lansing, New York, 
14882 (the “Cargill Facility”).  Shawn Wilczynski is the mine manager and has authority over 
the activities that are causing the violations of the CWA and RCRA. The Cargill Facility 
includes approximately 70 acres along the shoreline of Cayuga Lake.  Cargill’s subterranean 
mining activity spans 13,307 acres, at depths of up to 2,500 feet.  The Cargill Facility extends 
under Cayuga Lake, the Town of Lansing, and the Town of Ulysses.  The Cargill Facility’s 
above-ground operations include activities such as bagging, storage, handling, brine processing, 
transporting by rail, and trucking of mined rock salt.  There is also a weigh station located uphill 
on Portland Point Road, above Cayuga’s quarry. The Cargill Facility contains a conveyor used 
for moving and piling salt, three open-air bulk salt storage pads adjacent to Minnegar Brook on 
the north end of the Cargill Facility, as well as one bulk salt storage building (approximately 215 
yards long).  The upper, middle, and lower bulk storage pads are about 162, 180, and 205 yards 
long, respectively.  To the far south end of the Cargill Facility is Gulf Creek.  Minnegar Brook 
and Gulf Creek are both tributaries to Lake Cayuga. 

                                                 
4 New York State Department of Environmental Conservation, SPDES Multi-Sector General Permit For 
Stormwater Discharges Associated With Industrial Activity, Permit No. GP-0-17-004, (hereinafter 
“General Permit”), available at http://www.dec.ny.gov/chemical/9009.html. This General Permit replaces 
earlier general permits for the discharge of stormwater associated with industrial activity. The current 
General Permit became effective on March 1, 2018 and will expire on February 28, 2023. 

5 See Map attached hereto as Exhibit A, identifying location of noticed violations.  
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 DEC has issued Cargill an individual SPDES permit for polluted point source discharges 
from the Cargill Facility.  SPDES Permit No. NY-0101290 (the “Cargill Permit”).  The Cargill 
Permit designates Cayuga Lake and groundwater as the only permitted receiving waters for 
discharges.  Cargill Permit at 1.  The Cargill Permit designates eight outfalls from which Cargill 
may discharge water to Cayuga Lake.  Six of these outfalls (001, 002, 003, 006, 007, and 012) 
are designated for the conveyance of runoff from bulk salt storage areas.  Id. at 3.  Another 
outfall (009) discharges waste water from the onsite sewage treatment plant, and outfall (014) 
discharges cooling water.  Id. at 3-4.  
 
 The Cargill Permit requires Cargill to sample discharges from the bulk salt storage area 
and the sewage treatment plant on a monthly basis, at the designated outfalls.  Id. at 3.  Cargill is 
required to test for Flow, Chlorides, Cyanides (Free), and Total Dissolved Solids at outfalls 001, 
002, 003, 006, 007, 012, and for Total Zinc at outfall 001.  Id.  At outfall 009, Cargill is required 
to test for Flow, BOD5, Total Suspended Solids, Settleable Solids, pH, Chlorine Residual, and 
Fecal Coliform.  Id. at 3. 
 
 The Cargill Facility’s discharges are subject to strict numeric effluent limitations 
(“NELs”).  It is a violation of the Cargill Permit, and thus the CWA, for the Cargill Facility’s 
discharges to contain levels of pollution that are higher than the numeric effluent limitations.  
Outfall 001 is subject to daily maximum NELs.  Id.  Daily maximum NELs set the limit for the 
highest allowable amount of an effluent in a 24-hour period.  Outfalls 002, 003, 006, 007, and 
012 are subject to daily average NELs.   Daily average NELs set the limit for the highest 
allowable geometric mean of daily discharges.  Id.  Outfall 009 is subject to daily maximum 
limits and 7-day and 30-day average limits.  Id. 
 
 Cargill is required to submit discharge monitoring reports (“DMRs”), which document 
Cargill’s compliance or non-compliance with the NELs and the sampling mandates.  Cargill is 
required to submit DMRs monthly.  Id. at 10.  Cargill is also required to submit an annual report 
to DEC.  Id.     
 
 In addition, the Cargill Permit has a number of special conditions that are pertinent here:  
 

• Special Condition 1 of the permit requires Cargill to develop a Best Management 
Practices plan (“BMP Plan”) “to prevent releases of significant amounts of pollutants to 
the waters of the State through plant site runoff; spillage and leaks; sludge or waste 
disposal; and stormwater discharges including, but not limited to, drainage from raw 
material storage.”  Id. at 5.   

 
• Special Condition 2 of the permit states that “the BMP plan shall be reviewed annually 

and shall be modified whenever . . . actual releases indicate the plan is inadequate[.]” Id.   
 

• Special Condition 4 requires that the BMP plan at a minimum include 13 BMPs, based on 
EPA’s September 1992 manual on Storm Water Management for Industrial Activities, 
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including but not limited to those related to “Materials/Waste Handling, Storage, & 
Compatibility” and “Management of Runoff.”  Id. at 5.  

 
• Special Condition 6 requires Cargill to develop a wet weather operating plan and 

“conform to the approved wet weather operating plan (WWOP).  A revised WWOP must 
be submitted whenever Cargill replaces or modifies their operation in a manner that 
impact flows to Cayuga Lake.”  Id. at 6.   

 
 Finally, footnote 1 to the numeric effluent limitations for Outfall 001 contains another 
effluent limitation: it states that “Upper, Middle and Lower Salt Storage Pad Discharges must 
comply with Drainage Operations Manual - November 1994.”  Id. at 3. 
 
 In addition to chloride and the major ions measured through total dissolved solids, 
discharges through outfalls 001, 002, 003, 006, 007, and 012 contain other pollutants: zinc, 
cyanide, ferrocyanide, iron, and pollutants related to the vehicles and industrial equipment used 
in the areas drained by these stormwater outfalls, such as oil & grease, chemical oxygen demand 
(i.e. various oxygen-demanding pollutants), benzene, ethylbenzene, toluene, and xylene.  The 
pollutants released through the sewage treatment plant at outfall 009, in addition to those 
pollutants for which the Cargill Permit requires sampling, includes various substances commonly 
found in human sewage that are not removed by treatment plants.  These include a number of 
metals as well as pharmaceuticals and personal care products. 
 

Cayuga Stone Quarry and the General Permit 
 
 Cayuga operates a stone quarry at 87 Portland Point Rd., Lansing, New York, 14882 (the 
“Quarry”).  Thomas Besemer is the owner and operator of the Quarry and therefore has authority 
over the activities that are causing the CWA and RCRA violations.  The Quarry encompasses 
approximately 186 acres, located a short distance from and to the east of Cargill.  Cayuga 
extracts stone from the quarry to create various stone products, including crushed stone, 
aggregates, riprap, and other materials.   
 
 Notably, there are two salt storage pads located towards the south end of the Quarry. 
Based on a review of public records, these two salt pads and infrastructure appear to be on land 
owned by and controlled by the Quarry, and thus are assumed to be subject to the Quarry’s 
control.  If the two southern salt pads are not owned and operated by Cayuga, we ask that 
Cayuga and Mr. Besemer inform the undersigned attorneys of this immediately and provide 
documentary evidence that indicates who is responsible for the operation and management of 
these salt pads.  
 
 The Quarry lies between Minnegar Creek to the North, and Gulf Creek to the South, both 
of which are tributaries to Cayuga Lake.  Because Cayuga operates a stone quarry, it conducts 
activity classified under Standard Industrial Classification (“SIC”) codes 1442-1429 and is 
eligible for coverage under Sector J of the General Permit.  DEC has issued Cayuga coverage 
under the General Permit to discharge stormwater associated with industrial activity to Cayuga 
Lake.  Cayuga’s Notice of Intent (“NOI”) to obtain General Permit coverage designates Cayuga 
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Lake as the sole receiving water for stormwater discharges.6  Thomas Besemer signed the NOI 
on behalf of Cayuga. In fact, stormwater associated with industrial activities is also discharged 
from the Quarry into Gulf Creek and Minnegar Brook.   
 
 Under the General Permit, Cayuga is required to prepare, make available, and implement 
a Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (“SWPPP”) in accordance with established schedules.7  
The SWPPP must identify potential sources of pollution that may affect the quality of 
stormwater discharges associated with industrial activity.  Further, the SWPPP must describe and 
ensure the implementation of practices that minimize the discharge of pollutants in these 
discharges and that assure compliance with the other terms and conditions of the General Permit, 
including achievement of effluent limitations.8 
 
 Among other things, the SWPPP must include: a general site description, a general 
location map identifying the location of the facility and all receiving waters to which stormwater 
discharges, information related to a company stormwater pollution prevention team, a summary 
of potential pollutant sources, a description of control measures and best management practices, 
and schedules and procedures for implementation of control measures, monitoring and 
inspections.9  
 
 The General Permit requires that the owner or operator must select, design, install, and 
implement control measures (including best management practices), in accordance with good 
engineering practices, to meet the effluent limits contained in the permit.10  The General Permit’s 
effluent limits include both numeric limits specific to certain sectors11 and non-numeric 
technology-based effluent limits that apply to all facilities.12  These non-numeric technology-
based restrictions include minimizing the exposure of pollutants to stormwater13 and minimizing 

                                                 
6 Cayuga designated Cayuga Lake as the sole receiving water in its 2013 Notice of Intent for coverage.  
Previously, in 2007 Cayuga had designated “Tributary to Minnegar Brook” as the sole receiving water for 
stormwater discharges.  

7 See General Permit Part III. 

8 See General Permit Part III.A. 
 
9 See id. 

10 General Permit Part II. See also Part III.A.7 (“The SWPPP must document in writing the 
location and type of BMPs installed and implemented at the facility to achieve the non-numeric 
effluent limits in Part II.A and where applicable in Part VII, and the sector specific numeric 
effluent limitations in Part VII.”) 

11 See General Permit, Part VII. 

12 See General Permit, Part II. 

13 See General Permit, Part II.A.1. 
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the discharge of pollutants in stormwater14 to the extent achievable using control measures 
(including best management practices) that are technologically available and economically 
practicable and achievable in light of best industry practice.15 
 
 The General Permit also requires that Cayuga conduct multiple types of analytical 
monitoring.  In particular, the General Permit requires Cayuga to:  
 

• collect and analyze stormwater samples for each outfall at least semi-annually;16  
• conduct visual monitoring of stormwater discharges at least quarterly;17  
• perform an annual dry weather inspection to detect non-stormwater discharges;18  
• inspect, sample and monitor discharges from secondary containment structures and transfer 

areas;19  
• document storm events during which any samples are taken;20  
• document all of these monitoring activities;21  
• keep records of the monitoring with the Facility’s SWPPP;22 and 
• submit an annual report to DEC accompanied by a Discharge Monitoring Report detailing 

the results of all required stormwater samples, as well as reports that documents any 
instance of non-compliance with benchmarks or numeric effluent limitations.23 

 
 Because the Quarry is considered a Sector J facility under the General Permit, Cayuga’s 
stormwater discharges are subject to Benchmark Monitoring Requirements.  Cayuga must 
sample for:  
 

• Total Nitrogen 
                                                 
14 See id. 

15 See General Permit, Part II (“Effluent limits are required to minimize the discharge of pollutants. The 
term ‘minimize’ means reduce and/or eliminate to the extent achievable using control measures 
(including best management practices...) that are technologically available and economically practicable 
and achievable in light of best industry practice.”). 

16 See General Permit, Part IV.F.2. 

17 See General Permit, Part IV.E. 

18 See General Permit, Part IV.C. 

19 See General Permit, Part IV.F.1.e. 

20 See General Permit, Part IV.D.3. 

21 See General Permit, Part IV. 

22 See General Permit, Part IV.E. 

23 See General Permit, Part VI.A. 
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• Total Phosphorous  
• Total Suspended Solids 
• Total Recoverable Iron  
• Total Recoverable Zinc24 

 
 In order to comply with CWA § 301(a), Cayuga must fulfill all of the requirements in the 
General Permit.  The CWA prohibits Cayuga from discharging stormwater associated with its 
industrial activity in a manner that does not conform to the requirements in the MSGP.   
 

Minnegar Brook 
 
 Minnegar Brook is a direct tributary to Cayuga Lake that is wholly located in the Town 
of Lansing, Tompkins County, New York.  Minnegar Brook is a “Water of the United States.”  
The brook drains approximately one square mile of the eastern slope along the lake.  The 
drainage area is about five miles north of the southern terminus of the lake.  The total watershed 
of Minnegar Brook drains water down nearly 540 feet of elevation and over 670 total acres.  
Minnegar Brook is primarily divided between a north branch, a south branch, and a mainstem 
totalling 4.11 miles of stream.   
 
 There are only two industrial sites within the Minnegar Brook watershed that have 
SPDES permits: the Quarry and the Cargill Facility.  Approximately 40 acres of the Quarry are 
located within Minnegar Brook’s North and South Branch watersheds.    
 
 Approximately three acres of the Cargill Facility are located within the Minnegar 
watershed.  The Cargill Facility’s three outdoor bulk salt storage pads are located along the 
southern edge of Minnegar Brook’s mainstem.  Aerial photography shows noticeable decline in 
vegetation health downslope of the salt piles towards Minnegar Brook, visible evidence that salt 
pile leachate and run-off is migrating off site during rainfall events and that salt is landing on this 
area through aerial deposition.  Additionally, runoff of salt spilled from loaded, outgoing truck 
traffic is a source of saline contamination of the brook.   
 

Gulf Creek 
 
 Gulf Creek is a third order stream draining the eastern slope of the Cayuga-Owasco 
plateau.  Gulf Creek is a direct tributary of Cayuga Lake, entering the lake approximately 0.75 
miles south of Minnegar Brook.  It is a “Water of the United States.”  A culvert running under 
Portland Point Road (“Culvert 1”) empties into Gulf Creek.  Culvert 1 is fed by a hillside ditch 
that drains saline runoff from the two salt pads at the Quarry.  Neither the Cargill Facility nor the 
Quarry has SPDES permit coverage, individual or general, that authorizes discharges of 
pollutants to Gulf Creek.  
 
 
 

                                                 
24 See General Permit, Part VII, Sector J. 
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Cayuga Lake and the Culverts 
 

 Cayuga Lake (the “Lake”) is classified as an AA(T) water by DEC and is designated and 
used as a drinking water supply.  In addition to Culvert 1, four additional drainage culverts under 
Portland Point Road collect and concentrate the flow of stormwater runoff from the landscape, as 
well as springs and streams in the vicinity of the Cargill Facility and the Quarry, in the process 
conveying pollution to the Lake that originates from Cargill and Cayuga’s activities.  From south 
to north, we refer to these as Culverts 2-4.  These culverts drain portions of the landscape south 
of the Cargill Facility and downgradient of the Quarry – approximately the area where the 
Quarry’s two salt pads are located.  A fifth, northernmost culvert, Culvert 5, concentrates 
discharges from a downhill area west of the Cargill Facility’s three storage pads and discharges 
to Gulf Creek, which eventually flows into Cayuga Lake.  See Exhibit A (attached).  None of 
these culverts are permitted outfalls. 

 
II.  

 
STANDARDS AND LIMITATIONS ALLEGED TO HAVE BEEN VIOLATED  

AND ACTIVITIES ALLEGED TO BE VIOLATIONS 
 
 The CWA prohibits the discharge of pollutants to the waters of the United States except 
in accordance with a valid NPDES permit.25  Cargill and Cayuga are engaged in ongoing and 
continuous violations of the CWA in that the Cargill Facility and the Quarry discharge pollutants 
to Cayuga Lake, Minnegar Brook, and Gulf Creek that are either not authorized by existing 
permit coverage or in violation of SPDES/NPDES permit limits and terms. 
 

A. Unpermitted Discharges 
 

1. Cargill is Discharging Polluted Runoff to Minnegar Brook from 
Unpermitted Outfalls.  

 
 The Cargill Permit does not authorize the Cargill Facility to discharge pollutants to 
Minnegar Brook.  As noted above, the Cargill Permit only allows discharges to Cayuga Lake and 
groundwater, and only through outfalls specifically designated in the Cargill Permit.  Yet 
unlawful discharges to Minnegar Brook of stormwater runoff associated with the three large 
storage piles take place regularly during precipitation events – i.e., when it rains or when snow 
melts. 

 
 The three salt pads on the north end of the Cargill Facility, and the salt conveyor, are 
point sources of pollution. Although sometimes partially-covered with waterproof tarpaulins, the 
pads are often exposed to precipitation.  During precipitation events, stormwater associated with 
industrial activities is discharged from the pads and conveyor and carries chlorides, sodium, free 
cyanide and other pollutants into Minnegar Brook.  Stormwater runoff travels over land and 

                                                 
25 See CWA §§ 301(a) and 402; 33 U.S.C. §§ 1311(a), 1342. 
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through erosion channels and ditches to Minnegar Brook, which is located just a short distance 
away. 

 
 Stormwater runoff entering Minnegar Brook on the south bank, adjacent to Cargill’s 
western-most salt storage pad, contains chloride levels nearly three times higher than the state 
surface water standard (250 mg/l).  Sampling also indicates a trend of increasing chloride and 
sodium values along a downstream continuum on Minnegar Brook.  Chloride and sodium values 
at a downstream sampling location (near the Railroad Crossing) were significantly higher than at 
an upstream sampling location (near NYS Route 34).  Further, aerial photography shows 
noticeable decline in vegetation health downslope of the salt pads towards Minnegar Brook, 
suggesting surface flow of saline runoff during rainfall events. 
 
 Stormwater runoff from salt spilled from loaded, outgoing truck traffic is another point 
source of pollution to Minnegar Brook, and a likely contributor to high salinity levels detected in 
the Brook.  In particular, the weigh station on Portland Point Road is not included in the 
“Monitoring Locations” diagram in the Cargill Permit and no outfall is designated or associated 
with discharges of stormwater from the weigh station area.  Discharges of stormwater associated 
with industrial activity from the weigh station enter Minnegar Brook and Cayuga Lake in 
violation of the Cargill Permit. 

 
 Examination of the biota of Minnegar Brook shows ecological impairment in the Brook 
that is accentuated in the Brook’s lower reaches and that can be attributed to the elevated levels 
of salinity detected.   

 
2. Cargill is Discharging Polluted Runoff to Cayuga Lake from an 

Unpermitted Outfall.  
 

 Cargill is violating the CWA by unlawfully discharging polluted stormwater runoff 
through Culvert 5, a culvert that drains to Cayuga Lake.26  This discharge is unauthorized by 
Cargill’s existing SPDES permit and is therefore unlawful.    
 
 Culvert 5 drains roughly two acres of land in the vicinity of the Cargill Facility’s salt 
storage pads.  Sampling has shown that stormwater conveyed through Culvert 5 contains 
concentrations of chloride several fold higher than state surface water quality standards, as well 
as detectable concentrations of free cyanide. 
 

3. Cargill is violating its SPDES permit by discharging an Unpermitted 
Wastestream into Cayuga Lake Through Outfalls Designated for 
Runoff. 

 
 Publicly available satellite imagery from July 15, 2015 shows a tanker truck disgorging 
its contents onto the pavement at the southwest corner of the middle bulk salt storage pad slightly 

                                                 
26 See Exhibit A. 
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upgradient from what appears to be a drain for the collection of runoff.27  The Cargill permit 
authorizes the discharge of runoff from the salt storage pads. The Cargill Permit does not 
authorize the discharge of any process wastewater, vehicle washing wastes, waste streams 
associated with liquids transported on site by tanker trucks, or any other waste streams associated 
with the salt storage area beyond runoff. This is an unpermitted discharge in violation of the 
CWA. 
 

4. Cayuga (and/or Cargill28) is Discharging Polluted Runoff to Gulf 
Creek from an Unpermitted Outfall.  

 
 Cayuga is violating the CWA by unlawfully discharging polluted stormwater associated 
with industrial activity from the Quarry, through Culvert 1, into Gulf Creek.  As discussed 
above, Cayuga’s MSGP coverage only allows it to discharge polluted stormwater to Cayuga 
Lake.  Therefore, the Quarry’s stormwater discharges to Gulf Creek violate the CWA. 

 
 On the south end of the Quarry, Cayuga maintains two bulk salt storage pads. Salt stored 
on these pads is regularly exposed to precipitation creating point sources of pollution.  When it 
rains, stormwater carrying pollutants (e.g., chloride, sodium, free cyanide) migrates off site and 
reaches Gulf Creek via various routes including a hillside ditch that feeds into Culvert 1.  
Sampling in Gulf Creek shows that portions of Gulf Creek downstream of the Quarry possess 
significantly higher chloride levels than upgradient background samples.  

 
5. Cayuga (and/or Cargill29) is Discharging Polluted Runoff to Cayuga 

Lake from Unpermitted Outfalls.  
 
 Cayuga’s ongoing and continuous discharge of polluted stormwater runoff to Cayuga 
Lake, via Culverts 2-4, is unauthorized under its existing MSGP coverage and is therefore a 
violation of the Clean Water Act.30   
 
 Culverts 2-4 are located downhill of the Quarry’s two salt piles and concentrate 
stormwater runoff from the two salt piles before discharging into Cayuga Lake.  Stormwater 
                                                 
27 See Exhibit B. 
 
28 All of the Clean Water Act violations attributed to Cayuga herein relate to discharges of salt that 
originate from the two southernmost bulk salt storage pads and their related infrastructure, described in 
this letter as the Quarry’s “two salt storage pads.”  These two salt storage pads and related infrastructure 
are on land owned by and controlled by the Quarry, and thus discharges of stormwater associated with 
these salt pads are assumed to be subject to the Quarry’s control.  If the discharges of stormwater 
associated with these salt piles are in fact controlled by Cargill, then Cargill should in reading this 
letter understand that it is being put on notice of liability for all discharges attributed in this letter 
to Cayuga. 

29 See footnote 28, supra. 

30 See Exhibit A. 
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discharged through Culverts 2-4 is stormwater associated with industrial activity and contains 
pollutants.  Samples taken at Culverts 2-4 showed high levels of chloride, in excess of the state 
surface water standard. 
 

6. Cayuga (and/or Cargill31) Is Discharging Polluted Stormwater Runoff 
to Minnegar Brook from an Unpermitted Outfall or In Violation of 
the Reporting Requirements of the MSGP. 

 
 Cayuga is engaged in ongoing and continuous violations of the CWA in that it is 
discharging chlorides and other pollutants to Minnegar Brook through outfalls that are not 
authorized by the Quarry’s MSGP coverage.  These unlawful discharges occur during 
precipitation events.  Alternatively, if these discharges are permitted through Cayuga’s MSGP 
coverage, Cayuga is violating the CWA by repeatedly submitting inaccurate DMRs to DEC 
indicating “No Discharge.”   
 
 Sampling in the stretch of Minnegar Brook upstream of the Cargill Facility but along and 
downstream of the Quarry show high levels of salinity, and higher salinity than at sampling 
points even farther upstream. In addition, a roadside drainage ditch along Portland Point Road 
that drains to Minnegar Brook was sampled near the entrance to the Quarry.  The sample 
possessed a mean Chloride value several times higher than the surface water standard and in 
excess of background levels.  Further, the Quarry has a convey apparatus that crosses above 
Minnegar Brook and has access roads, including Portland Point Road, that drain to Minnegar 
Brook. 

 
 Cayuga’s annual DMRs, dating back to 2009, all state “No Discharge,” which indicates 
that no sample was taken because there was not an observed stormwater discharge.  Yet for the 
reasons described above, there is reason to believe that the Quarry is discharging stormwater 
associated with industrial activity – including highly saline stormwater – to Minnegar Brook.  
Either Cayuga is falsifying DMRs by reporting “No Discharge” when a discharge is present – 
itself a CWA violation – or the Quarry has an unpermitted stormwater outfall (or outfalls) 
discharging to Minnegar Brook, also a CWA violation. 
 

B. Violations of Effluent Limitations in the Cargill Permit 
 

1. Cargill’s Salt-Related Discharges Are in Violation of the Numeric 
Effluent Limitations in its SPDES Permit (Outfalls 001, 002, 006). 

 
 Cargill is violating the CWA through its ongoing exceedance of the numeric effluent 
limits in its SPDES permit.  Cargill has repeatedly discharged chloride and total dissolved solids 
at levels that exceed the numeric effluent limits established for Outfalls 001, 002, and 006.  
Specific dates of exceedances, based on Cargill’s self-monitoring and reporting, are set forth in 
the table below. 

                                                 
31 See footnote 28, supra. 



Notice of Violation and Intent to File Suit 
April 25, 2019 
Page 12 of 22 
 
 
 
 

 
Monitoring Period 

End 
 

 
Pollutant 

 
Limit (mg/L) 

 
Reported 

Value (mg/L) 

 
Outfall 

2/28/2009 Chloride 40,000 66,000 001 
2/28/2009 TSS32 80,000 110,000 001 
2/28/2009 Chloride 5,000 6,600 006 
2/28/2009 TSS 10,000 12,000 006 

12/31/201033 Chloride 40,000 44,000 001 
2/28/2011 Chloride 40,000 44,000 001 
7/31/2011 Chloride 40,000 49,000 001 
12/31/2014 Chloride 5,000 9,800 006 
12/31/2014 TSS 10,000 16,000 006 
2/28/2015 Chloride 40,000 61,000 001 
2/28/2015 TSS 80,000 86,000 001 
2/28/2015 Chloride 10,000 20,466 002 
5/31/2016 Chloride 5,000 5,100 006 

Data sources: EPA ECHO Database, Exceedances and Pollutant Loading Reports, and Discharge 
Monitoring Reports 
 
 As the table shows, Cargill reported to DEC that it has discharged a mixture of 
stormwater and salt brine containing excessive levels of chlorides and dissolved solids through 
its stormwater outfalls on numerous occasions since 2009.  In fact, exceedances are considerably 
more frequent than is apparent from DMRs because the DMRs report grab samples taken once 
per month, which is a very inaccurate way of monitoring runoff-related pollution problems.   
 
 Additional monitoring of the discharge from Outfall 002 was conducted for several 
weeks in July 2015.  Although the level of chloride in the monthly grab sample collected by 
Cargill in July 2015 was 1,400 mg/L, the additional monitoring showed that the discharge from 
outfall 002 exceeded the 10,000 mg/L chloride effluent limit in the permit on three dates in that 
month: July 21, 25, and 26.  Publicly available weather records indicate that a rain event 
occurred on each of these days. Continuous monitoring for conductance (as a proxy for chloride) 
and chloride, or more grab samples taken during storm events would likely show more regular 

                                                 
32 TSS – Total Suspended Solids. 

33 This violation of effluent limitations is reported in a letter dated Jan. 8, 2011 from Josh Smith, 
Engineering Technician, Cargill Deicing Technology to Frederick Gillette, P.E., NYS DEC explaining 
that the discharge of stormwater with a Chloride level of 44,000 mg/L and a flow rate of 10,614 GPD 
occurred in December 2010 because of a rainstorm on the morning of sampling.  This violation is not 
reported on Cargill’s Discharge Monitoring Reports for December 2010. 
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exceedances of chloride and dissolved solid limits than those reported in Cargill’s DMRs, 
including in many months where no exceedance is reported.  Accordingly, OCE alleges that 
Cargill has violated and continues to violate numeric effluent limits for chloride and total 
suspended solids at Outfalls 001, 002, and 006. 
 

2. Cargill is Violating the Non-Numeric Effluent Limitations in its 
SPDES Permit by Failing to Implement Best Management Practices 
for Stormwater Control. 

 
 The discharge of highly saline runoff with excess levels of chloride and dissolved solids 
from the stormwater outfalls (001, 002, 003, 006, 007, and 012), coupled with equally polluted 
discharges from numerous unpermitted and unauthorized points (described above) clearly 
violates the non-numeric effluent limits in Cargill’s SPDES permit.   
 
 As noted above, Special Condition 1 of Cargill’s permit requires Cargill to develop and 
adhere to an adequate BMP plan, while Special Condition 2 requires Cargill to modify that plan 
when “actual releases indicate the plan is inadequate[.]”  Id. Actual releases to Cayuga Lake, 
Minnegar Brook and Gulf Creek show – and have shown for years – that the best management 
practices in place are inadequate and that spills of salt and leaks of polluted water regularly enter 
Minnegar Brook, Gulf Creek, and Cayuga Lake.  But despite years of evidence, Cargill’s BMPs 
and other pollution prevention measures have not been revised to stop spills and leaks and bring 
discharges under control.  In addition to the evidence of repeated chloride and dissolved solids 
exceedances in Cargill’s DMRs, there is also readily observable brown ground cover, indicating 
vegetation morbidity, downslope of the salt storage pads and on other areas at the Cargill facility.  
Actual releases – and their physical impacts on the terrain surrounding Cargill – demonstrate 
clearly and visibly that Cargill has failed to comply with Special Conditions 1 and 2 of the 
Cargill Permit.   

 
 Similarly, the discharge of salt, brine, and polluted stormwater from the three salt pads to 
Minnegar Brook cannot comply with the Drainage Operations Manual.  Nor can the Wet 
Weather Operating Plan allow for discharges of pollution to Minnegar Brook and Gulf Creek.  
Cargill’s wet weather operating practices and drainage practices, like its BMPs, do not meet the 
requirements set forth in the Cargill Permit (Special Condition 6 and footnote 1 to the numeric 
effluent limitations for Outfall 001, both discussed above). 

 
 Cargill violates the above-listed effluent limitations during every rain event in which 
Cargill discharges pollution from unauthorized points and/or the discharges from permitted 
outfalls exceed numeric effluent limitations.  Further, because Special Condition 2 imposes an 
affirmative duty on Cargill to update and implement its BMP plan whenever actual releases 
demonstrate that the plan is inadequate to reduce stormwater pollution to permitted levels, 
Cargill has violated Special Condition 2 on every day upon which it has failed to improve its 
BMPs to an adequate level since actual releases from Cargill (and their effect of burning out 
vegetation) first made it obvious that stormwater discharges were not adequately controlled.  
These violations have continued consecutively since at least 2009.  
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3. Cargill’s Sewage Treatment Plant Is in Violation of the Numeric 
Effluent Limitations in its SPDES Permit (Outfall 009). 

 
 In addition to the salt-related pollution arising from salt handling practices as described 
above, discharges from Cargill’s sewage treatment plant regularly exceed the numeric effluent 
limits established in the Cargill Permit.  Specific dates of exceedances are set forth in the table 
below.  
 

Outfall 009 
 

Monitoring 
Period End 

 
Pollutant 

 
Limit 

(mg/L)34 

 
Reported 

Value 
(mg/L)35 

 
2/28/2007 TSS – 30 Day Average 36 30 36 
3/31/2007 TSS – 7 Day Average 45 58.5 
10/31/2007 Total Residual Chlorine 1 1.2 
1/31/2008 TSS – 30 Day Average 30 42.5 
2/29/2008 TSS – 30 Day Average 30 31.5 
8/31/2008 Total Residual Chlorine 1 1.5 
1/31/2009 TSS – 30 Day Average 30 32 
2/28/2009 Total Residual Chlorine 1 1.2 
8/31/2009 Total Residual Chlorine 1 1.5 
4/30/2010 Total Residual Chlorine 1 1.5 
9/30/2010 TSS – 30 Day Average 30 36 
12/31/2010 BOD37 - 30 Day Mean 30 33 
10/31/2013 Total Residual Chlorine 1 1.3 
4/30/2016 BOD - 30 Day Mean 30 48 
4/30/2016 BOD - 7 Day Mean 45 48 
9/30/2017 Fecal Coliform - 7 Day Average  400 600 
9/30/2017 Fecal Coliform - 30 Day Average 200 600 
10/31/2017 Fecal Coliform - 7 Day Average  400 1200 
10/31/2017 Fecal Coliform - 30 Day Average  200 1200 
3/31/2018 Fecal Coliform - 7 Day Average  400 2420 
3/31/2018 Fecal Coliform - 30 Day Average  200 2420 
5/31/2018 Fecal Coliform - 7 Day Average  400 2419 

                                                 
34 Fecal coliform unit is number of colonies/100mL. 
 
35 Fecal coliform unit is number of colonies/100mL. 
 
36 TSS – Total Suspended Solids. 

37 BOD – Biological Oxygen Demand. 
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5/31/2018 Fecal Coliform - 30 Day Average  200 2419 
11/30/2018 Fecal Coliform - 7 Day Average  400 2419 
11/30/2018 Fecal Coliform - 30 Day Average  200 2419 

 
 The technology-based effluent limits established for Cargill’s sewage treatment plant in 
its SPDES permit are set to be achievable at all times for a well-run plant.  The recurrent 
exceedances at the sewage treatment plant demonstrate that there is an underlying and ongoing 
problem with the equipment, staff training, and/or operational practices of the plant that needs to 
be investigated and remedied.  Review of DEC’s permitting records does not find reports of non-
compliance events that explain the causes of these recurrent violations. Nor does such a review 
suggest that these problems have been permanently resolved, notwithstanding the introduction of 
a septic system in 2017, since violations have continued thereafter.   
 
 Cargill’s failure to maintain and operate its sewage treatment plant in a manner that 
ensures compliance with permit limits at all times is itself a violation of the permit.  The permit 
incorporates by reference, as “effluent limitations” within the meaning of the federal Clean 
Water Act, the provisions of New York’s SPDES regulations codified at 6 NYCRR Part 750-
2.8.38  Part 750-2.8(a)(2) provides that “[t]he permittee shall, at all times, properly operate and 
maintain all disposal facilities, which are installed or used by the permittee to achieve 
compliance with the conditions of the permit.”  Further, Part 750-2.8(a)(5) requires that “[t]he 
permittee and operator shall operate the wastewater treatment facility in such a manner as to 
minimize the discharge of pollutants to a degree that is achievable when compared to standard 
practices for operation of such wastewater treatment facilities.”  Cargill does not properly 
operate and maintain its disposal facilities nor does it minimize the discharge of pollutants to a 
degree achievable compared to standard practices at other, well-run wastewater treatment 
facilities. 
 
 Cargill has violated its permit on each date listed in the table above on which the sewage 
treatment plant’s discharge exceeded numeric effluent limitations.  The violation of each 
parameter on each date constitutes a separate violation.  Further, each sample taken to represent a 
30-day average or 7-day mean represents 30 or 7 days of violations with respect to each 
parameter.  Finally, Cargill has violated the Part 750-2 requirements of proper operation, 
maintenance, and pollution minimization on every day since the pattern of recurrent violations 
first made it clear that there were underlying problems with the sewage treatment plant that are 
not simply explainable as a single extraordinary event.  These days of violations have occurred 
consecutively since at least 2009. 
 
 
 
                                                 
38 See Cargill Permit p.1 of 10. (providing that Cargill “is authorized to discharge . . . in accordance with: 
effluent limitations; monitoring and reporting requirements; other provisions and conditions set forth this 
permit; and 6 NYCRR Part 750-1.2(a) and 750-2); see also 33 U.S.C. §1365(f) (“For purposes of this 
section, the term “effluent standard or limitation under this chapter” means . . . (4) a [NPDES] permit or 
condition thereof…”). 
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C. Aerial Deposition (Violations of the CWA) 
 

1. Cargill is Discharging Salt via Aerial Deposition to Minnegar Brook 
Without a Permit. 

 
 Cargill is also discharging salt to Minnegar Brook through aerial deposition in violation 
of the Clean Water Act.  The Cargill Facility’s three salt pads are partially uncovered and 
exposed to the elements.  In addition, Cargill’s process for placing salt in the piles using 
conveyors and other equipment results in salt being dropped onto the piles from above, and 
during this process some salt is lost to the wind.  In certain wind conditions, salt is carried 
offsite, from the salt piles and elsewhere at the Cargill Facility, and deposited in Minnegar Brook 
and the surrounding watershed.  As discussed above, the Cargill Permit does not authorize the 
Cargill Facility to discharge salt, or any other pollutant, to Minnegar Brook.  Aerial deposition of 
salt is contributing to the high levels of chlorides sampled in the lower reaches of Minnegar 
Brook, as well as the ecological impairment that has been observed. 
 

2. Cargill is Discharging Salt via Aerial Deposition to Gulf Creek 
Without a Permit. 

 
 Cargill is unlawfully discharging salt to Gulf Creek through the aerial deposition of salt 
stored uncovered at the Cargill Facility in violation of the Clean Water Act.  The three exposed 
salt piles on the north end of the Cargill Facility are frequently uncovered or partially uncovered. 
In certain wind conditions, salt can be carried and deposited in Gulf Creek and the surrounding 
watershed.  The Cargill Permit does not authorize the Cargill Facility to discharge salt, or any 
other pollutant, to Gulf Creek.  Sampling on the lower reaches of Gulf Creek, south of the Cargill 
Facility, shows high levels of chloride in excess of background levels. 
 

3. Cargill is Discharging Salt via Aerial Deposition to Cayuga Lake 
without a Permit. 

 
 Cargill is unlawfully discharging salt to Cayuga Lake through aerial deposition in 
violation of the Clean Water Act.  The Cargill Facility’s three salt storage pads are sometimes 
uncovered and exposed to the elements.  Also, the loading and unloading operations at the three 
storage pads involve dropping salt onto the pads from a conveyor.  Under certain wind 
conditions, salt from the pad and conveyor is carried offsite and this salt is deposited in the Lake.  
This discharge is not covered by the Cargill Permit. 

 
4. Cayuga (and/or Cargill39) is Discharging Salt via Aerial Deposition to 

Gulf Creek Without a Permit. 
 
 Cayuga is violating the CWA by unlawfully discharging salt to Gulf Creek through aerial 
deposition of salt stored uncovered at the Quarry.  In certain wind conditions, salt can be carried 

                                                 
39 See footnote 28, supra. 
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and deposited into Gulf Creek.  The Cargill Permit does not authorize the Cargill Facility to 
discharge salt, or any other pollutant, to Gulf Creek.  Sampling on the lower reaches of Gulf 
Creek, south of the Quarry shows high levels of chloride in excess of background levels. 
 

5. Cayuga (and/or Cargill40)  is Discharging Salt via Aerial Deposition to 
Cayuga Lake Without a Permit. 

 
 Cayuga is violating the CWA by discharging salt to Cayuga Lake through aerial 
deposition.  The Quarry’s two salt piles are regularly uncovered and exposed to the elements.  In 
certain wind conditions, salt is carried offsite from the two piles, and deposited in the Lake 
particularly during loading and unloading of the piles on windy days.  This discharge is not 
covered by Cayuga’s MSGP. 
 

D. Cargill’s and Cayuga’s Unlawful Discharges Present an Imminent and 
Substantial Endangerment to the Health of Minnegar Brook, Gulf Creek, 
Cayuga Lake and the Surrounding Environment in Violation of RCRA.  

 
 Salt or salt brine that is spilled, deposited, discharged, dumped, or runs off from the 
Cargill Facility or the Quarry onto adjacent land (or directly into water, in the case of aerial 
deposition) is discarded and therefore is solid waste as that term is defined under RCRA.  
Therefore, in spilling, depositing, discharging or dumping salt or salt brine, Cayuga and Cargill 
have contributed to the handling, transportation, and disposal of a solid waste. This waste is 
entering the environment and presents an imminent and substantial endangerment to the 
environment of Minnegar Brook, Gulf Creek, and Cayuga Lake. 
 
 Cargill’s and Cayuga’s wastes enter these waterbodies through three primary routes.  The 
discharge of salt wastes in stormwater is discussed extensively above.  In addition, Cayuga and 
Cargill’s aerial deposition of salt into the surrounding aquatic and terrestrial environment also 
presents an imminent and substantial endangerment to the environment.  Salt that is deposited 
offsite through air emissions is discarded and therefore is solid waste. In addition, there is a third 
waste disposal practice of concern. It appears that solid waste from the Quarry salt pads – that is, 
salt or salt brine that is discarded, spilled, discharged or otherwise disposed of from the Quarry 
salt pads - is entering the groundwater near those pads and discharging to Gulf Creek through 
seeps, springs, and other conduits.  All of these waste disposal practices pose an imminent and 
substantial endangerment to nearby waters. 
 
 Concern for the health of the environment here is not speculative; these impacts are 
already being felt today.  A preliminary study of benthic macroinvertebrates in Minnegar Brook 
shows that the Brook’s ecology is already negatively influenced by salinity, including a shifting 
of the benthic invertebrate communities toward saline tolerant species and, quite remarkably, 
wholesale elimination of mayflies from the lower reaches of Minnegar Brook.  Additionally, the 
deposition of salt onto the landscape surrounding the Cargill Facility and the Quarry has caused a 

                                                 
40 See footnote 28, supra. 
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noticeable decline in vegetation.  Particular areas of concern include the area between the Cargill 
Facility’s three salt piles and the south bank of Minnegar Brook, as well as about a 20-acre area 
north-northwest of the salt piles and Minnegar Brook and the west and south-facing hillsides 
downgradient of the Quarry’s two Salt piles.  
 
 Therefore, Cargill and Cayuga have contributed to the handling, transportation, and 
disposal of a solid waste that may present an imminent and substantial endangerment to health or 
the environment, in violation of RCRA.41  This endangerment is continuing because Cargill and 
Cayuga have failed to evaluate and clean up the contamination caused by their waste handling 
and disposal, and because saline runoff and airborne particulates continue to leave the Cargill 
Facility and the Quarry and reach ecological receptors, thereby presenting a risk of serious harm 
to those ecological receptors. 
 

III. 
 

PERSONS RESPONSIBLE FOR ALLEGED VIOLATIONS 
 
 The entities referred to collectively in this letter as Cargill (Cargill, Inc. and Cargill 
Deicing Technology) and as Cayuga (Cayuga Crushed Stone, Inc.) are the persons responsible 
for the violations alleged in this Notice.  On information and belief, Cargill and Cayuga 
(collectively, the “Defendants”) have operated their respective industrial operations for at least 
five years.  The Defendants have operational control over the day-to-day industrial activities at 
their respective facilities.  Therefore, the Defendants are responsible for managing stormwater 
and other discharges at their respective facilities in compliance with the CWA and responsible 
for any risk of imminent and substantial endangerment to health and the environment caused by 
contamination at their respective facilities.  OCE hereby puts Cargill and Cayuga on notice that if 
OCE subsequently identifies additional persons as also being responsible for the violations set 
forth above, it intends to include those persons in this action.   
 

IV. 
 

LOCATION OF THE ALLEGED VIOLATION42 
 
 The violations alleged in this Notice have occurred and continue to occur at the Cargill 
Facility and the Quarry, on the immediately surrounding lands and in the nearby culverts.  The 
Cargill Facility, operated by Cargill, is located at 191 Portland Point Rd., Lansing, New York, 
14882.  The Quarry, operated by Cayuga, is located at 87 Portland Point Rd., Lansing, New 
York, 14882.   
 

V. 
 
                                                 
41 42 U.S.C. § 6972(a)(1)(B).   

42 See Exhibit A. 
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DATES OF VIOLATION 
 
 Cayuga and Cargill are liable for the above-described violations occurring prior to the 
date of this letter, and for every day after the date of this letter that these violations continue. 
Specifically, the noticed stormwater violations occur every day there is a significant precipitation 
event, meaning rainfall or snow melt of more than 0.1 inches, which days can be ascertained 
from publicly available weather data. A copy of such data is attached to this notice as Exhibit C.  
In addition to the timing of violations specifically set forth above, this Notice covers all 
violations of the CWA and RCRA evidenced by information that becomes available to OCE after 
the date of this Notice of Intent to File Suit.43  These violations are ongoing, and barring full 
compliance with the permitting requirements of the CWA and the remediation requirements of 
RCRA, these violations will continue.  
 

VI. 
 

RELIEF REQUESTED 
 
 OCE will ask the court to order Cayuga and Cargill to comply with the CWA and RCRA, 
to pay penalties, and to pay his costs and legal fees. 
 
 First, OCE will seek declaratory relief and injunctive relief to prevent further violations 
of the Clean Water Act pursuant to Sections 505(a) and (d) and such other relief as permitted by 
law.  OCE will seek an order from the Court requiring Defendants to obtain or modify NPDES 
permit coverage as appropriate and to correct all other identified violations through direct 
implementation of control measures and demonstration of full regulatory compliance. 
 
 Second, pursuant to Section 309(d) of the CWA,44 each separate violation of the CWA 
subjects Cayuga and Cargill to a penalty not to exceed $37,500 per day for each violation that 
occurred prior to November 2, 2015, and up to $52,414 per day for each violation that occurred 
after November 2, 2015.45  OCE will seek the full penalties allowed by law. 
 
 Third and lastly, pursuant to the CWA and RCRA, OCE will seek recovery of litigation 
fees and costs (including reasonable attorney and expert witness fees) associated with this matter.46 
                                                 
43 See Public Interest Research Grp. v. Hercules, Inc., 50 F.3d 1239, 1248-49 (3d Cir. 1995) (a notice that 
adequately identifies specific violations to a potential defendant also covers repeated and related 
violations that the plaintiff learns of later. “For example, if a permit holder has discharged pollutant ‘x’ in 
excess of the permitted effluent limit five times in a month but the citizen has learned only of four 
violations, the citizen will give notice of the four violations of which the citizen then has knowledge but 
should be able to include the fifth violation in the suit when it is discovered.”). 

44 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d); see also 40 C.F.R. § 19.4 (Adjustment of Civil Monetary Penalties for Inflation). 

45 40 C.F.R. § 19.2.  

46 33 U.S.C. § 1365(d); 42 U.S.C. § 6972(e).  
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VII. 
 

PERSON GIVING NOTICE 
 
 The full name, address, and telephone number of the person giving notice are as follows: 
 
Our Children’s Earth Foundation 
1625 Trancas St. #2218 
Napa, CA 94558-9998 
Tel: (510) 910-4535 
 

VIII. 
 

IDENTIFICATION OF COUNSEL 
 
OCE is represented by legal counsel in this matter.  The name, address, and telephone number of 
OCE’s attorney is: 
 
Edan Rotenberg, Esq. 
Super Law Group, LLC 
180 Maiden Lane, Suite 603 
New York, New York 10038 
(212) 242-2355 

 
IX. 

 
REQUEST FOR COPY OF CARGILL AND CAYUGA SWPPPS 

 
 As noted above, under the General Permit, Cayuga is required to prepare, make available, 
and implement a Stormwater Pollution Prevention Plan (“SWPPP”) in accordance with 
established schedules.47  In particular, Part III.C. of the General Permit requires Cayuga to make 
a copy of the SWPPP available to any member of the public within 14 days of a request.  
Through this letter, OCE respectfully requests that Cayuga provide a copy of its SWPPP.  OCE 
also respectfully requests that Cargill provide a copy of its SWPPP.  Please send the SWPPPs 
electronically, if possible, to edan@superlawgroup.com, or by mail to the offices of Super Law 
Group, LLC. 
 

X. 
 

CONCLUSION 
 

                                                 
47 See General Permit, Part III. 
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 The foregoing provides more than sufficient information to permit Cargill and Cayuga to 
identify the specific standard, limitation, or order alleged to have been violated, the activity 
alleged to constitute a violation, the person or persons responsible for the alleged violation, the 
location of the alleged violation, the date or dates of such violation, and the full name, address, 
and telephone number of the person giving notice.48 
 
 During the 90-day notice period, OCE is willing to discuss effective remedies for the 
violations noted in this letter that may avoid the necessity of protracted litigation.  Further, part 
of the sampling data discussed in this letter is found in the two reports accompanying this notice 
letter as Exhibits D and E.  Cayuga and Cargill should also feel free to contact me for further 
information about the violations alleged above.  If Cayuga and Cargill wish to pursue such 
discussions, please contact my office immediately so that negotiations may be completed before 
the end of the 90-day notice period.  OCE does not intend to delay the filing of a complaint in 
federal court, regardless of whether discussions are continuing at the conclusion of the 90 days. 
 
 

Very truly yours, 
 
 
 
Edan Rotenberg Esq. 
Super Law Group, LLC 
180 Maiden Lane, Suite 603 
New York, New York 10038 
(212) 242-2355 

cc: 
 
Andrew Wheeler, Administrator 
Environmental Protection Agency 
Ariel Rios Building 
1200 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W. 
Washington, DC 20460 
 
Pete Lopez, EPA Region 2 Administrator 
Environmental Protection Agency 
290 Broadway 
New York, NY 10007-1866 
 
Basil Seggos, Commissioner  
New York State Department of Environmental Conservation 
625 Broadway 
Albany, NY 12233-1011 

                                                 
48 40 C.F.R. § 135.3(a).   
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Cargill Inc. Registered Agent: 
C T Corporation System  
111 Eighth Ave.  
New York, NY 10011 

 
 

EXHIBITS 
A – MAP 
B – TANKER TRUCK IMAGES 
C – PRECIPITATION DATA 
D – CULVERT ASSESSMENT 
E – RUNOFF ASSESSMENT 
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